UNITED

NATIONS C C P R

International covenant DENERAL

on civil and CCPR/ C/ SR. 1541

political rights 17 January 1997
ENGLI SH

Original: FRENCH

HUMAN RI GHTS COWM TTEE
Fifty-ei ghth session
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 1541st MEETI NG

Hel d at the Pal ais des Nations, Geneva,
on Monday, 28 Cctober 1996, at 10 a.m

Chairman: M. AGU LAR URBI NA
CONTENTS

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES UNDER ARTI CLE 40 OF THE
COVENANT

Initial report of Gabon

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public nmeetings of the Commttee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued
shortly after the end of the session

GE. 96- 18722 (E)



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1541
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 10.15 a.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES UNDER ARTI CLE 40 OF THE
COVENANT (agenda item 4) (continued)

Initial report of Gabon (HRI/CORE/ 1/ Add. 65; CCPR/ C/ 31/ Add. 4;
CCPR/ C/ 58/ L/ GAB/ 3)

1. At the invitation of the Chairman, M. Minboundou Muyama, Ms. Ondo,
M. Razingué, M. Enbinga and M. Ndjoye (Gabon) took places at the Commttee
tabl e.

2. The CHAI RMAN wel coned t he Gabonese del egation and invited it to
i ntroduce Gabon's initial report (CCPR/ C/31/Add.4).

3. M. MAMBOUNDOU MOUYAMA (Gabon) said that he regretted the rather |ate
subm ssi on of Gabon's report, which was primarily due to slow progress in
setting up the intermnisterial commttee in charge of preparing human rights
reports. Since Gabon's accession to international sovereignty, however, in
particul ar since the ratification of the Covenant in 1983 and the hol di ng of
t he national conference in 1990, the pronotion and protection of human rights
had al ways been anong the priority concerns of the Gabonese authorities. It
was true that the experinment with a nmulti-party systemafter accession to

i ndependence had only lasted a few years and that the one-party system

i ntroduced in 1968 had | asted for 22 years, but observers of politica

devel opnents in Gabon had not reported any systematic or deliberate violations
of human rights during that period.

4, The national conference had decided to put an end to the one-party
system A new Constitution establishing political pluralismhad been adopted,
free and regul ar legislative elections organized and a representative Nationa
Assenbly established that had approved the Constitution currently in force,
whi ch introduced a denocratic, nulti-party system New institutions such as
the Constitutional Court and the National Comrunication Council had
subsequent|ly been established to further strengthen the rule of |aw

5. Achi evenents in the area of pronotion and protection of human rights
were, to be sure, nmpdest as yet, for which reason the Gabonese authorities

wel comed the action taken by the United Nations Hi gh Comm ssioner for Human
Rights after neeting with the authorities during a recent visit to Gabon. A
Centre for Human Ri ghts m ssion would soon be leaving for Libreville to assess
Gabon's needs with a view to establishing a technical assistance and
cooperation programre. In that connection, the Gabonese Governnent reaffirmed
its determ nation to respect its international commitnents.

6. The CHAI RMAN t hanked M. Manboundou Mouyama for his introductory
statement and invited the Gabonese del egation to reply to the questions in
part | of the list of issues (CCPR/ C/58/L/GAB/3).

7. M. MAMBOUNDOU MOUYAMA (Gabon), replying to question (a) on the status
of the Covenant, said that, in accordance with article 113 of the Gabonese
Constitution, the President of the Republic negotiated international treaties
and accords and ratified themafter the enactnent of an enabling | aw by




CCPR/ C/ SR. 1541
page 3

Parliament. Since the Covenant had been duly ratified by Gabon, it had
entered into effect on being ratified and published in the Journal officiel
and was therefore applied under Gabonese internal |aw.

8. Concerning question (b) on the drafting of the new Constitution, he said
that the Constitution, which dated from 1991, attached primary inportance to
human rights and their effective protection. The preanble reaffirmed Gabon's
conmitnent to human rights as defined in the different human rights
instruments, and the Prelimnary Title, on Fundanental Rights and Principles,
repeated many of the Covenant's provisions.

9. Replying to question (c) on the transition to denocracy, he said that,
after Gabon had achi eved i ndependence in 1960, the 1961 Constitution had
established a nmulti-party system the nulti-party systemhad in 1967 been
changed to a one-party system which had lasted until 1990, when a nationa
conference had restored a nulti-party, pluralist denocracy in Gabon

Twenty-two years of a one-party system had created sone unrest in the country.
To mai ntain public order and guarantee the security of individuals and
property, especially public property, the Governnent had had to take severa
steps derogating fromsone of its obligations under the Covenant, particularly
the introduction of a state of siege in one province in the country in

May 1990 and the declaration of a state of energency in part of the nationa
territory. Nevertheless, the provisions of the Covenant from which no
derogation was permtted had al ways been fully respected and inpl enented, even
during that difficult transition period.

10. Ms. ONDO (Gabon), replying to question (d) on the human rights bodi es,
said that the Mnistry of Human Ri ghts was responsi ble for ensuring the
pronmoti on of human rights and fundamental freedons in Gabon. To that end, it
cooperated with other bodies and partners, especially the non-governnenta
organi zations (NGOs), with a view to raising the people's awareness, informng
it and educating it in an effort to introduce a culture of peace and

tol erance. The Mnistry also nonitored conpliance with Gabon's internationa
human rights conmmitnents, to which end it coordinated the activities of the
intermnisterial conmttee in charge of preparing reports on Gabon's hunman

rights situation. 1t also made recomendations to the Government on how to
take the provisions of international instrunents ratified by Gabon into
account in the preparation of internal legislation. |In addition, it was

conducting a canpaign on the prevention of human rights violations by the
State. Hence the Mnistry of Human Ri ghts had been involved in the
preparati on of a 1995 canpaign to regularize the situation of people wthout
identity papers; it had prepared a docunment listing the conditions to be net
in order to protect the rights of the target group, which had been distributed
to the task force set up to deal with the crisis and to the security forces.

11. M. RAZI NGUE (Gabon) said that the Mnistry of Justice was responsible
for ensuring the proper functioning of all courts and | aw enforcenent bodies
in the country and all bodies responsible for initiating prosecutions. Hence
the Mnistry of Justice did not hold judicial power but made sure that the
judicial system functioned properly throughout Gabonese territory.




CCPR/ C/ SR. 1541
page 4

12. M. MAMBOUNDOU MOUYAMA (Gabon) said that his del egati on woul d provide
further details on the guarantees of the independence of the judiciary at a
| at er stage.

13. On the question whether the Government was considering the establishment
of a national human rights commission, he said that preparations to that end
were al ready under way, and that the authorities welconed the Centre for Human
Ri ghts' offer of cooperation and technical assistance in establishing such a
comm ssion. The conmm ssion should be independent of the Governnent and hence
of the Mnistry of Human Ri ghts, and shoul d be established pursuant to a | aw.
Gabon was in the mddle of an electoral period, and not until the new nationa
assenbly had been el ected, in Novenmber 1996, could the bill establishing the
nati onal human rights conmi ssion be tabl ed, considered and adopted.

14. Replying to question (f) on equality of the sexes, he said that Gabon
was one of the African countries where the problem of sexismwas not nuch in
evi dence, for girls had access to education and there were no early marri ages
or particular prohibitions for wonen. It was for the voters to elect nore
worren deputies to the next Parliament. Wonen were heavily represented,
however, at the various levels of the public adm nistration and in the various
mnistries. 1t should also be noted that the State Director-General of
Protocol was a wonman and that a wonman presided over the npbst inportant
judicial institution in Gabon, the Constitutional Court. Barring aspects that
escaped the law itself and that related nostly to custom the situation of
worren in Gabon was one of full equality. Even in the Muslimcomunity, wonen
were not subjected to the nmutilations that were conmon practice in other
countries.

15. Ms. ONDO (Gabon) said that equality of the sexes in Gabon was
guaranteed by the Constitution and that wonen had equal access to education

and vocational training, in the workplace, in political life and in the
conduct of public affairs. It was true that there had been a drop in the
nunber of women deputies in the National Assenbly, but wonmen did participate
fully in the econonmic, social, political and cultural life of the country, at

t he highest levels, especially in higher education and di pl omacy. There was
room for inmprovenent, but any remaining inequalities were in no way due to
del i berate discrimnation against wonen on the part of the Gabonese

aut horities.

16. M. MAMBOUNDOU MOUYAMA (Gabon), replying to question (g) on the death
penalty, said that the npst recent execution in Gabon had taken place 10
year's earlier. Crimnals were still sentenced to death, but the penalty was
systematically commuted to one of life inprisonnent, and sentences were often
reduced since the basic purpose of inprisonment was to give prisoners a
opportunity to mend their ways and rejoin society. The Gabonese Governnent
was in fact considering acceding to the Second Optional Protocol to the
Covenant. In view of the unfortunate increase in crime in the country,
however, the Gabonese authorities believed that it was preferable to wait
until the process of stabilizing the denocratic structures had yielded the
expected results, in order to avoid dividing the Gabonese on a sensitive

i ssue.




CCPR/ C/ SR. 1541
page 5

17. M. EMBI NGA (Gabon), replying to question (h) on the use of weapons by
the police, said that the nmenbers of the national police were only entitled to
use firearms for purposes of deterrence, as a rule in self-defence, and that
they were strictly forbidden to use a weapon unless they had first been
threatened during an arnmed attack. Hence the use of firearnms for the

mai nt enance or reestablishnment of order was prohibited, and only truncheons or
tear-gas could be used. Any violations of the rules gave rise to prosecution
in the ordinary courts in accordance with the legislation in force, and any
infliction of gun shot wounds led to an inquiry by the conpetent courts, which
ruled on the degree of responsibility of the person who had commtted the act.
The use of anmmunition was strictly controlled and all police officers who were
i ssued firearns were bound to account in witing for their use of the
ammuni ti on i ssued; hence use of firearns was closely nonitored and there were
practically no violations.

18. M. MAMBOUNDOU MOUYAMA (Gabon), replying to question (j) on
extrajudicial executions, disappearances and torture, said that even during
the one-party period, no one had been executed without trial in Gabon
Currently, if a person was reported di sappeared and the famly filed a
conplaint, an inquiry was opened and an investigati on conducted.

19. M. NDJOYE (Gabon), referring to question (k) on torture and confessions
under duress, said that the nenbers of the security forces had | ong been aware
of potential problenms in that area. A judge who |earned that confessions or
testi mony had been obtained by torture i mediately took steps to annul the
proceedi ngs and begi n new ones, and anyone who used illegal nethods was duly
puni shed in accordance with the | aw.

20. M. MAMBOUNDOU MOUYAMA (Gabon) said that police officers were educated
in quality schools, not only in Africa but el sewhere in the world, and that,
resources permtting, all nodern investigatory nmethods were used, in
particul ar | aboratory analyses. Any technical assistance which the Centre for
Human Ri ghts m ght provide in that connection would be extrenely useful

21. M. RAZINGUE (Gabon), referring to question (l) on conditions of
detention, said that pre-trial detention was generally ordered for a maxi mum
period of 6 nmonths, renewabl e once, which neant that it could not exceed

12 months' duration. |If at the end of the 12 nonths the investigation
procedure had not been conpleted, the accused was automatically rel eased. For
nmore serious offences, the pre-trial detention period was 12 nonths, renewable
for two 6-nonth periods, for a total authorized duration of 24 nmonths. |If at
t hat poi nt proceedi ngs had not been conpleted and the accused was not

rel eased, the accused could bring indemification proceedings for harm
suffered as a result of abusive and arbitrary detention. Police custody was

t he exception rather than the rule and could not exceed 48 hours unless a
derogati on was authorized by the Public Prosecutor. Custody could be extended
to eight days in crimnal proceedings.

22. M. MAMBOUNDOU MOUYAMA ( Gabon), providing additional information on
conditions of detention (question (1)), said that there was a |large prison at
Li breville, which was the central prison, and |local prisons in the

ni ne provincial county seats, which were nore in the nature of transit centres
and, unlike the central prison at Libreville, not overcrowled. Regarding the



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1541
page 6

different categories of prisoners, the political prisoners' block in

Li breville had recently been elim nated and reassi gned to women prisoners;
there was a small area for young offenders, since Gabon did not have
reformatories with senm -custodi al systenms, and the other areas were reserved
for convicted prisoners. Gabon was trying to set up a rehabilitation system
within the prison, but it did not always have the neans to i nprove conditions
of detention and, especially, to prepare the prisoners for rel ease and
reintegration into society.

23. M . RAZINGUE (Gabon), replying to question (m on the United Nations
Standard M nimum Rules for the Treatnent of Prisoners, said that prisons in
Gabon were nonitored periodically, if not daily, by the prosecution service.
All courts were divided into the bench, whose role was to try cases, and
prosecution service, which was responsible for the conduct of crimna
proceedi ngs. All prosecutions canme within the purview of the prosecution
service, which was bound to ensure the strict inplenmentation of the | aws
governing deprivation of liberty. Whether police custody or pre-tria
detention was involved, the Ofice of Crimnal Affairs and Pardons, attached
to the Mnistry of Justice, coordinated all the activities of the prosecution
service. Hence the Standard M ninmum Rules were |listed by the Mnistry of
Justice and conmuni cated to each court through the Ofice of Crimnal Affairs.
Simlarly, the Standard M ninum Rul es were taken into account when | aws were
amended.

24. M. EMBI NGA (Gabon), replying to question (n) in his capacity as

M nistry of Defence expert responsible for the police, said that incommunicado
detention did not exist in Gabon. Regarding police custody, he said that the
visiting rights of people in police custody could be w thdrawn for security
reasons or to protect judicial secrecy during an investigation, as provided
for in particularly sensitive cases by the Code of Crimnal Procedure.

25. M. RAZINGUE (Gabon), replying to question (0) on the independence of
the judiciary, said that the Gabonese Republic was organi zed politically
around the principle of separation of powers; judicial power was held by the
courts, which passed judgenent in the nane of the Gabonese people and answered
only to the law. The courts based their judgenments on the legislation in
force and not on instructions or orders. Trial judges, or the bench, were

i ndependent fromthe prosecution service, which was organi zed according to a
hi erarchy. Judges' independence in making their decisions was based on their
status, which was one of irrenovability; they could not be removed fromoffice
against their will for having handed down a deci sion which was not to the
liking of a particular authority. Judges' independence was al so based on
immunity; they could only be prosecuted under a specific nmechanismthat had to
be activated not by a single individual but by the Supreme Judicial Council
That guarantee protected them agai nst potential abuses by a higher-ranking
authority. Judges were also protected fromfinancial tenptations that m ght
expose themto corruption, because their salaries freed themfromfinancia
Worries.

26. M. MAMBOUNDOU MOUYAME ( Gabon) said he believed that his del egati on had
replied to all the questions in part | of the list of issues
(CCPR/ C/ 58/ L/ GAB/ 3) .




CCPR/ ¢/ SR. 1541
page 7

27. The CHAIRMAN invited the nmenbers of the Cormittee to ask questions
orally on the Gabonese del egation's replies.

28. M. LALLAH comrended Gabon for having submitted its initial

report, 13 years after the Covenant's entry into force for Gabon
unfortunately the docunent was extrenely brief, very general, and did not
provi de an idea of what was actually happening in the country. There were
references to the Constitution and various |aws, but that was far from
sufficient. The report should be redone, for the Committee had not been told
how t he Covenant was inplenented, not only in the legislation, but in
practice.

29. For exanpl e, Gabon had declared a state of siege and state of energency
in the early 1990s. Had it respected article 4, paragraph 3, of the Covenant,
which required States parties to informthe Secretary-General of the

United Nations of the provisions fromwhich they had derogated and the extent
of the derogations? The question of equality between nmen and wonmen was
addressed by sonme rather general statements that did not indicate the rea
probl ems preventing practical steps from being taken to make wonen equal in
status to nen.

30. He would like to know which crines carried the death penalty.

Concerning the abolition of capital punishment, the delegation had referred to
the reactions of the public to the corpses in the streets and the rise in
crime in explaining why the Government had refrained from abolishing the death
penal ty and had mai ntai ned the existing provisions. 1In view of the fact that
t here had been no executions in Gabon for the previous 10 years, however, he
did not find that reply very satisfactory.

31. He woul d al so like to know which | egal texts governed detention. The
Gabonese del egation had said that police custody could |ast up to eight days
and even | onger, which was not in conformty with the Covenant. He would Iike
to know whether a person in police custody was entitled to a | awer, whether
the person's famly was infornmed of the detention and whet her the person could
consult a physician. The fact that custody could be extended by the Mnistry
of the Defence, for a length of tine that was unacceptable, appeared to be
serious in the light of the Covenant.

32. Since both the initial report and the core docunment were clearly

i nadequat e, the Covenant would have to be taken virtually article by article
and questions asked on the inplenentation of each of its provisions to see
which | aws were rel evant, which would be too tinme-consuming. In any event, he
t hanked the del egation for the additional information it had given orally.

33. Ms. EVATT associated herself with all of M. Lallah's remarks on
Gabon's initial report and stressed that it was difficult for the nmenbers of
the Committee to fornulate questions w thout precise witten information to
begin with. She hoped that the dial ogue under way with the Gabonese

del egation would give the State party a better idea of how to prepare its
future periodic reports.

34. Her first series of observations concerned article 2 of the
Constitution, which proclainmed the equality of all citizens before the | aw



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1541
page 8

wi t hout any distinction as to origin, race, sex, opinion or religion. The
initial report (CCPR/ C/31/Add.4) also referred to neasures on discrimnation
(paras. 15-17), but the Commttee had not been given a description of the
contents of the discrimnation |laws: what type of procedure or renedies did
the | aw provide against discrimnatory acts by the State or private bodies and
what proceedings could be instituted in order to obtain conpensati on? Was
there such legislation in Gabon or were the authorities awaiting the next

el ections to enact it?

35. Her second concern was the situation of wonen, and the real problens

t hey encountered, concerning which the report said virtually nothing. Despite
the additional information provided orally, she wondered what was bei ng done
to resol ve problens connected with the situation of wonmen, which the

del egation attributed nostly to customary law. Wat did the civil |aw say on
the subject? Had the old, discrimnatory |laws been repeal ed or anmended with
regard to rel ations between husband and w fe, the obedience due by the wife to
the husband as head of the famly, restrictions on women who wi shed to | eave
the territory without their husband' s consent and the possibility of
practising a profession? |f nothing had been done in | egislative terns, what
were the Governnent's plans?

36. The Gabonese del egati on had spoken of wonen's participation in certain
aspects of public life in Gabon; such participation still appeared to be very
| ow, which was probably due to the persistence of traditional attitudes.
Neverthel ess, the Committee needed to know indications like the literacy and
school enrol nent rates anong wonen. |If such rates were | ow, what steps were
bei ng taken to renove obstacles for wonen and bring about attitudi nal changes
i n Gabonese society? On another matter, did wonmen have access to
contraception, famly planning services and abortion? She was happy to hear
that genital mutilation did not take place in Gabon. She would |ike to know
the infant nortality rate and the life expectancy for both men and wonen.

37. Her third category of questions concerned the independence of the
judiciary. The delegation should provide further information on the neaning
and i nplenentation of article 69 of the Constitution, which was not clear
According to article 69, “The President of the Republic is the guarantor of

t he i ndependence of the judicial authority, as laid down in the provisions of
the present Constitution, in particular article 36. He shall be assisted by
the Supreme Judicial Council and by the Presidents of the Judicial Court, the
Admi nistrative Court and the Accounting Court.” She was not clear as to the
link between article 69 and article 36. She would also like to know the role
of the Suprene Judicial Council (Constitution, art. 70), and how the fact that
it was presided over by the President of the Republic (Constitution, art. 71)
could be conpatible with the independence of the judiciary.

38. M. ANDO said that the Covenant had entered into force for

Gabon 13 years before and that both the core docunent (HRI/CORE/ 1/ Add. 65) and
the initial report itself (CCPR C/ 31/Add.4) were far too brief, with the
latter basically consisting of quotations of principles set forth in the
Constitution and a few excerpts fromlaws. The Committee needed to know,
however, the actual situation in Gabon as far as human rights were concerned,
whet her the provisions of the human rights legislation were fully inplenmented
and, if not, what obstacles and difficulties prevented them from being



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1541
page 9

i npl enmented. To be sure, the delegation's oral replies had suppl emented the
report sonewhat, but the Conmittee needed nuch nore detailed information on
the situation in practice rather than in |law. The purpose of dial ogues
between the Cormittee and States parties was to enable the Comrittee to

exam ne the provisions of the Covenant together with the State party in order
to identify the sensitive sectors where problens arose and think about ways of
resol ving them

39. Hi s concerns fell into two broad categories. The first was equality
before the law and restrictions on human rights, in the Iight of the

provi sions of article 2, paragraph 1, and article 26 of the Covenant.

Article 1, paragraph 13, of Gabon's Constitution stipulated that any act of
racial, ethnic or religious discrimnation was punished by |law, and article 2
proclainmed the equality of all citizens before the law, w thout distinction of
origin, race, sex, opinion or religion. But articles 2 and 26 of the Covenant
al so prohibited discrimnation based on | anguage, political or other opinion
nati onal or social origin, property, birth or other status. Did the Gabonese
| egal order include those grounds?

40. Wth regard to equality between the sexes (arts. 2, 3 and 26 of the
Covenant), traditions and custom were often obstacles to equality in Gabonese
society. Considering that part of the Gabonese popul ati on was Mislim and t hat
the precepts of Islam occasionally contradicted the principle of equality

bet ween the sexes, he wondered whether problens in that connection arose in
Gabon and how they were resolved. As a large portion of the popul ati on was
enployed in agriculture, he would also like to know whet her men and wonen

wor ked under conditions of equality or whether there was a division of |abour
in agriculture, and how it affected equality between men and wonen.

41. As for the institution of marriage, were nmen and woren fully equal when
they entered into nmarriage, during the marriage and when the marri age was
fully dissolved, in other words when they divorced, in the division of assets?
VWo was entitled to ask for a divorce, who was given priority in awarding
custody of the children and how was the decision taken? Did nen and wonen
have full equality in transmtting Gabonese nationality to the children?

42. He wondered about foreigners' rights as far as equality before the | aw
was concerned. Because of its vast oil resources, Gabon attracted inmm grant
wor kers, especially fromthe nei ghbouring countries. According to his

i nformation, such inmmigrants had to pay the equivalent of $1,000 to obtain a
work permit; was that true, and what steps had to be taken to obtain one?
Were inmgrants who did not obtain a work permt considered to be illega

i mm grants? According to his information, 70 foreigners in an irregular
situation, nostly Ghanai ans and N gerians, had been found dead of suffocation
or dehydration in a detention canp at Libreville. Could the Gabonese

del egation provide further detail s?

43. Hi s second subject of concern was the independence of the judiciary. He
woul d I'i ke an expl anation of the relations anong the different branches of
government (CCPR/ C/ 31/ Add.4, para. 35), in the light of the principle of
separation of powers set forth in the Constitution. Paragraph 15 of the core
docunent (HRI/CORE/ 1/ Add. 65) stated that the Republic of Gabon was revising
the Constitution with a view to the di sappearance of the Suprenme Court and the



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1541
page 10

establ i shment of three new i ndependent and aut ononopus courts, nanely the

Judi cial Court, the Adm nistrative Court and the Accounting Court. He would
like to know whether there were emergency courts such as mlitary tribunals,
and would like further information on the structure of the Gabonese court
system Simlarly, he would like to know how t he nmenbers of the judiciary,
especially judges and prosecutors, were trained, how they were appointed and
on what grounds they could be renpbved. He would |ike to know whet her they
enjoyed irrenovability, whether there was a specific retirenent age and

whet her they were entitled to a retirenment pension. He also inquired whether
there were problens with delays of justice in Gabon, as frequently occurred in
many countries, including the devel oped countries, and what steps were taken
to correct them

44, Ms. CHANET said that she was inpressed by the size and | evel of
conpet ence of the Gabonese del egation, which attested to how seriously the
Governnment of the State party took the consideration of its report.
Qobviously, she regretted that Gabon had taken over 10 years to fulfil its
obligation to submt a report, and an extrenely brief one at that.
Neverthel ess, she was pleased at the devel opnents in the situation in Gabon
in particular the introduction of a nulti-party system

45. As she had seen no nention of a Mnistry of the Interior and as the
menber of the Gabonese del egati on who had replied to questions about the
police was a nenber of the mlitary, she asked whether there was a M nistry of
the Interior and a civilian police force in Gabon

46. The grounds for discrimnation set forth in article 1, paragraph 13 of
the Constitution did not cover all the grounds laid down in articles 2 and 26
of the Covenant, in particular discrimnation based on sex or politica

opi nion, and she woul d appreciate further details in that connection. She
associ ated herself with the questions on wonen's status, and stressed that the
reports made no nention of equality in marriage or the existence of a

st andardi zed civil code governing the rights of wonmen throughout the country.

47. Regardi ng the death penalty, she understood the Government's reluctance
to confront public opinion by opening a debate that would very probably | ead,
as in nost countries, to rejection of the abolition of the death penalty,
preferring to let the current legislation fall into abeyance. In her viewthe
death penalty shoul d cease to be handed down; however, although the del egation
had expl ai ned that executions no | onger took place, it had not specified how
may peopl e had been sentenced to death in recent years, and especially, for

whi ch of fences the death penalty could be pronounced. The length of pre-tria
detention and police custody was also a matter of concern. The drafters of
the initial report (CCPR/ C/31/Add.4) had had the honesty to acknow edge

(para. 30) the lack of training of |law enforcement officers, judges and prison
staff, stating that consequently there was an urgent need for Gabon, with the
help of the international community and the United Nations specialized
agencies, to establish a major on-the-job training programre, placing
particul ar enphasis on respect for the human person and therefore making it
possible to conmbat the practice of torture; however, strict rules of a

di ssuasive nature nust first be established at the donestic level. Police
custody of eight days' duration, likely to foster ill-treatnent, was certainly
not compatible with article 9 of the Covenant, and she would |ike to know



CCPR/ ¢/ SR. 1541
page 11

whet her a police custody register was actually kept, whether interrogations
were duly entered, whether a physician was present if necessary and whet her
people in custody had access to a |awer. She would also Iike to know whet her
detention always took place in a judicial framework or whether adm nistrative
detention was practised in Gabon. She would also like further information on
the nature of the energency courts nentioned in article 82 of the
Constitution.

48. M. EL SHAFEI said he was gratified by the fact that Gabon was
represented by a delegation of an extrenely high level. The del egati on woul d
be called on to fill the gaps in a report that was too brief (he hoped that
the next report would be prepared in conformty with the Conmttee's

gui delines). The smooth return to denocracy, with the introduction of a

mul ti-party system and the enactnent of a nunber of [aws to strengthen the
protection of human rights, was certainly a wel cone devel oprent. He had noted
with interest the existence of a “National Charter of Freedons” (report,

para. 7) and would |ike details of its legal status and influence in the field
of protection of human rights. Wile associating hinmself with the questions
rai sed earlier, he would return to four main areas of concern. First,
regardi ng equality and the prohibition of discrimnation, he would like to
know whether, in addition to the articles of the Constitution cited, there
were | egislative provisions explicitly prohibiting discrimnation, in
particul ar on the ground of political opinion. Regarding equality, the
Gabonese del egati on had nentioned the steps taken to guarantee participation
by wonen in public life, but it had said nothing of any affirmative action to
end discrimnation in that area.

49. He was concerned at the length of pre-trial detention and police
custody. He would like to know whether there was a limt to the nunmber of
possi bl e extensions of the duration of custody and whet her a maxi mum duration
had been set for detention before trial. He would also like information on
the conditions of detention in establishnents other than prisons and on the
guarantees provided, in particular regarding access to a | awer and

conmuni cation with the famly

50. Regardi ng protection of the right to life, he would Iike to know which
of fences carried the death penalty and the circunmstances in which

| aw enf orcenent officers were authorized to use force; if the del egati on had
such information, it would al so be hel pful to have exanpl es of cases where the
use of force had led to casualties.

51. The situation of refugees in Gabon was also a matter of concern. He had
| earned that the Gabonese authorities intended to take neasures agai nst

illegal inmmgrants, and would like to know what neasures were being pl anned.
He woul d al so like to know whether the Gabonese authorities were cooperating
with the United Nations Hi gh Commissioner for Refugees and where nost of the
refugees cane from His last question was whether famly reunification was
possi bl e while a request for asylum was pending.

52. M. BAN expressed appreciation for the opportunity for the Conmittee to
hol d an exchange of views with the Gabonese del egation on the inplenentation
of the Covenant. He had been pleased to note the anple information given by
t he del egati on, which had suppl enented some of the gaps in the report. He



CCPR/ ¢/ SR. 1541
page 12

wonder ed what the Gabonese Governnent intended to do to avoid submitting the
next report as late as the initial report, especially considering the fact
t hat Gabon had becone a party to several other international instrunments.

53. The preanble to the Constitution nentioned a nunber of internationa

i nstruments, but the Covenant was not anong thenm he wondered why.
Clarifications were all the nobre necessary as a conparison of the rights laid
down in the Gabonese Constitution with those in the Covenant reveal ed sone
striking differences. The grounds for discrimnmnation had already been

menti oned by other nenbers, but he al so noted that absolutely nothing was said
of other rights, such as the right to life, the prohibition against slavery
and the rights of prisoners and mnorities. |In other cases, rights were laid
down but subject to restrictions that were not provided in the Covenant;
freedom of nmovenent, for exanple, was only guaranteed to Gabonese citizens,
which called for an explanation. There was no provision of the Constitution
stipulating a general right to conpensation. For certain specific violations,
there appeared to be the possibility of a remedy on a case-by-case basis.
Article 2 of the Covenant, however, laid down a general obligation to provide
an effective renedy. On another matter, it was not very clear how the courts
resol ved conflicts between a donestic |law and an international instrunent, for
the only provision that m ght cover such a situation was article 86 of the
Constitution, which provided for any accused person, through proceedi ngs
before an ordinary court, to introduce an action of unconstitutionality in
respect of a |aw or an act which did not recognize his fundamental rights;

not hing was said of a |law being inconpatible with the Covenant.

54. In connection with the judiciary, he would Iike to know which “other
energency courts” were referred to in article 82 of the Constitution and why
the legislature had seen fit to provide for the possibility of establishing
such energency courts. The provision in article 79 to the effect that the
Suprene Court was bound, “with the exception of decisions by the President of
the Republic,” by the “definition of crinmes and m sdemeanours " called for
an explanation, especially in the light of articles 14 and 15 of the Covenant.

55. M. BHAGMTI thanked the Gabonese del egation for its introduction
Unfortunately the report was too general and did not enable the Committee to
see how the rights set forth in the Covenant were exercised in practice. The
report gave the inpression that Gabon had no difficulties and that all rights
were fully achieved. The Committee needed to know the facts, for exanple the
percent age of wonen participating in political life and public office, their
educational situation, how equal enploynment and equal wages were ensured and
what | egal system governed marriage, divorce and succession. The sanme was
true of the situation of the judiciary; the Cormittee needed to know how
judges were appointed and the conditions for eligibility, remuneration and
retirement in order to assess the extent of judges’ independence.

56. Par agraph 25 of the core docunent (HRI/CORE/ 1/ Add. 65) stated that human
rights information and di ssem nation of the international human rights
instruments at the national |evel remined one of the weakest sectors with
regard to the pronotion of human rights. He would like to know what steps
were being taken to overcone that obstacle, in particular whether courses on



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1541
page 13

human rights were given in schools and police and arned forces training
centres and for officials, and whether an information effort was nade anong
the public at |arge

57. The refugee situation required sone clarifications. He would Iike the
Gabonese del egation to indicate whether the draft |egislation on refugees,
whi ch had been under review in Parlianent in March 1996, had been adopted,
what was the procedure for determ ning refugee status and whether the
definition of refugee used by Gabon was that of the 1951 Convention or that
applied by the Oganization of African Unity. He would also wel cone details
on the renedi es avail abl e to people whose application for refugee status had
been rejected and on the actual situation of asylum seekers and refugees:
were they detained or were they free to leave and return to the country and to
wor k? According to some sources, refugees not hol ding a docunment issued by
the Gabonese authorities were subject to severe restrictions, and he woul d
like to know whether it was true that docunents issued by the Ofice of the
United Nations Hi gh Commi ssioner for Refugees were still not recognized. He
al so asked whether famlies were reunited without difficulty and whether it
was true that foreigners had to obtain an exit visa in order to | eave the
country.

58. Par agraph 25 of the initial report (CCPR/ C/31/Add.4) stated that

requi sitioning of people and goods were neasures which mght be taken in

ci rcunmst ances established by |law and that they were regul ated by [ aw, wi thout
spel ling out the circunstances under which the services of certain people

m ght be required, the nodalities for the performance of those services and

t he conpensation provi ded when goods were requisitioned. In another area, the
fundanmental rights whose application could be suspended during a state of
energency were not specified.

59. As other menbers of the Committee had stressed, the conditions of police
custody shoul d be described in detail. Although the conpensation provided if
detention was followed by dismssal, release or acquittal (para. 34 of the
report) was a wel cone devel opnent, the Committee would like to know i n how
many cases conpensation had in fact been paid and whether conpensati on was

al so provided when pre-trial detention exceeded the prescribed duration. It
woul d al so be interesting to know why neither the Penal Code nor the
Constitution contained any provisions explicitly recognizing the genera
principle of res judicata, since paragraph 52 indicated that Gabonese | aw
implicitly recognized that principle.

60. M. KLEIN expressed appreciation for the opportunity to wel cone the
representatives of Gabon and said he did not doubt that the dial ogue woul d be
val uable to both parties.

61. The Gabonese authorities were to be conmended for their honesty in
stating, in paragraph 70 (b) of the report, that Gabon was a devel oping
country and therefore | acked the necessary organi zati on and human resources to
translate into reality the political conmtnent to fulfil its internationa

obl i gati ons under the Covenant; however, since Gabon had entered no
reservations to the Covenant, which was conmendabl e, the Committee had to ask
it to make that conmtnment a reality. The return to denocracy had been a
first step forward. |In that connection, he would like to know how t he



CCPR/ ¢/ SR. 1541
page 14

aut horities distinguished between the concept of “nulti-party denocracy” and
that of “pluralist denocracy”, which had replaced that termin the 1994
version of the Constitution. Since elections had recently taken place, he
woul d I'ike to know the current conposition of the Governnent and how many
political parties were represented in Parlianent.

62. Article 85 of the Constitution indicated that individuals had a right,

of sorts, to conplain to the Constitutional Court to contest the
constitutionality of a law or |egislative act which they considered to
underm ne their rights. He wondered whether the citizens nade use of that
right, what was the attitude of the Constitutional Court towards such
conpl ai nts general ly speaki ng and whether the Constitutional Court was al so
conpetent to rule on the | awmful ness of an order issued by the President of the
Republ i c.

63. Noting that the Constitution stressed the inportance of maintaining
public order, he asked under what circunstances the rights guaranteed by the
Constitution could be subjected to restrictions; it was true that the Covenant
menti oned public order as one of the possible grounds for the restriction of
rights, but public order was given such great inportance in Gabon that the
Conmi ttee needed to know whether the case | aw of the Gabonese courts defined
the expression nore precisely and whether that case | aw was consistent. Also
in connection with the possible restriction of rights, he would like to know
what inportance was given to the principle of proportionality.

64. He woul d al so like further information on the prison situation in Gabon
in particular the nunber of detainees per prison and the size of the cells,
and to be informed of the grounds for placing a person in police custody.

65. M. POCAR expressed surprise at the Gabonese authorities' long delay in
submitting the initial report. That was all the nore puzzling since, when he
had visited the region, he had had the inpression that, on the contrary, the
Gabonese system was conducive to the preparation of a tinmely report, and the
establishment of a Mnistry of Human Ri ghts should in principle have

accel erated matters. The Governnment of Gabon, which had al so made specific
commtnents for the protection of human rights at the African |level, had
apparently not deened it necessary to speed up the preparation of its initia
report to the Cormittee, which was unfortunate. Was that not perhaps due to
the people's and institutions' mstrust of universal human rights supervision
procedures, to which they m ght prefer regional procedures? He would like to
hear the Gabonese del egation's point of view on the subject.

66. He endorsed the questions put by the other nmenbers of the Commttee. He
had some difficulty in formng a clear idea of the human rights situation in
Gabon, on the one hand because of the scant information it was possible to
glean fromthe report (CCPR/ C/ 31/ Add.4), and on the other because of sonme
confusion created by the report's obscure references to the corresponding
articles of the Constitution. An exanple was paragraph 41, which stated that
the presunption of innocence was a principle established by article 1

par agraph 4, of the Constitution, whereas it was apparently protected by the
provisions of article 1, paragraph 23. Sinmlarly, according to paragraph 18
of the report, article 1, paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 4, of the Constitution
cont ai ned provi sions guaranteeing the equality of human bei ngs, yet the



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1541
page 15

paragraphs cited did not deal with equality. He wondered whether the text of
the Constitution of Gabon being used by the nenbers of the Cormittee was the
text currently in force, or whether the contents of the report were in fact an
interpretation of the text of the Constitution. Also in connection with
equality, he noted that the relevant provisions of the Constitution were much
nmore restrictive than those of articles 2 and 26 of the Covenant. He would
like to know exactly how the principle of equality was applied in Gabon. He
was particularly surprised to see that principle protected by an article of
the Constitution dealing with secondary, albeit inportant, questions such as
the national enblem and the national anthem whereas the concept involved was
an absol utely fundanental human rights principle.

67. Wth regard to the right to life, he would Iike to know which of fences
carried the death penalty. Mreover, contrary to paragraph 27 of the report
(CCPR/ C/ 31/ Add. 4), the Constitution did not appear to protect the right to
life as such, in any case according to the text of the Constitution he had
before him He would also like to know nore about the National Human Ri ghts
Commi ssi on apparently being established. As he understood it, the Comm ssion
woul d not be part of the Government. What then would its status be, what
woul d be its relations with the executive, how would its independence be

guar anteed and who would be its nenbers?

68. M. KRETZMER expressed di sappointment at the initial report of Gabon
(CCPR/ C/ 31/ Add. 4), which contained only mnimal information on the country's
| egal structure and provided no information on the actual human rights

si tuati on.

69. He associated hinself with the concerns of other nmenbers of the
Conmittee with regard to infant nortality, which was a very inportant aspect
of assessnent of the right to life. Also in connection with children, he
woul d I'ike additional information to that contained in paragraph 5 of the core
docunent (HRI/CORE/ 1/ Add.65). |In particular, was education mandatory, and if
so to what age, and free of charge? He would also |ike to know the actua
school enrolnment rate for girls and for boys.

70. One nmenber of the Committee had asked about detai ned foreigners who had
al l egedly been found dead in their cells in a detention canp at Libreville.

He would |li ke to know nore about the canp. Did other simlar establishnents
exist? He would also like clarifications on the conditions of detention and

t he nunber of detainees in the various establishnents. Mre generally, he
woul d I'ike information on the different types of penitentiaries and prisons in
Gabon. Were the provisions of article 10, paragraph 2, of the Covenant fully
respected in Gabon? What was the mninmum age for crimnal responsibility, and
at what age could a m nor be placed in detention? A nunber of nenbers of the
Committee had remarked on the duration of pre-trial detention, and their
concerns might perhaps be ascribed to a msinterpretation of the Gabonese

del egation's statenents. In any event, he would like particulars of the
duration of police custody and pre-trial detention, and the conditions for and
duration of such custody and detention. Did the prosecution hear the person
concerned before reaching its decision to extend custody? Was a det ai nee
entitled to be represented by counsel, and could the detainee challenge the
ext ensi on?



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1541
page 16

71. Wth regard to article 8 of the Covenant, he would Iike further
i nformati on on | egislation and practice with regard to slave | abour and child
| abour .

72. Ms. MEDINA QU ROGA endorsed M. Lallah's remarks concerning Gabon's
initial report (CCPR/ C/31/Add.4). Although she realized that the Gabonese
del egati on woul d doubtl| ess not be able inmediately to provide the replies the
Committee needed to fully assess the human rights situation in Gabon, she
neverthel ess hoped that the Comrittee's questions would be duly taken into
account by the Gabonese authorities in preparing the next periodic report.

73. She wondered about the status of the Covenant in Gabonese internal |aw.
In her understanding - and she had the same difficulties as M. Pocar
concerning the report's references to constitutional provisions - the Covenant
could be directly invoked in the courts. Was that true, and had it al ready
been invoked? Mdre generally, were the Gabonese people properly infornmed of
the Covenant's provisions, and what steps had the Governnent taken or was it
planning to take to informthen? She noted that the Gabonese Constitution did

not protect all the rights laid down in the Covenant. In particular, some
provisions of article 1 of the Constitution applied only to Gabonese citizens,
while others applied to “all”. Wy had such a fornul ati on been chosen, and to

what exactly did it refer?

74. Regardi ng equal ity and non-discrimnation, she shared the concerns of
ot her nmenbers of the Comm ttee, whose questions she endorsed. In particular
she would |i ke further information on the traditions that gave rise to

di scrimnati on between nen and wonen. The Gabonese authorities should reply
in a nore precise and detailed manner to question (f) of the |list of issues
(CCPR/ C/ 58/ L/ GAB/ 3) .

75. On the matter of prohibiting discrimnation, she was struck by the
wording of article 1, paragraph 13, of the Constitution, which provided for
puni shment that was apparently notivated not by the effects of the
discrimnatory act on its victim but by considerations of internal or
external security of the State or the integrity of the Republic. She would
like further explanations on that point. On another matter, she endorsed al
the questions asked about the inplenentation of article 9 of the Covenant.
Concerning the i ndependence of the judiciary, she would like clarifications on
the scope of articles 96-98 of the Constitution; in her view, the conposition
of the National Comrunication Council did not appear to be appropriate for a
judicial body.

76. M. BUERGENTHAL endorsed M. Lallah's remarks on Gabon's initial report
(CCPR/ C/ 31/ Add. 4), which not only failed to give an idea of the actual human
rights situation in Gabon but undoubtedly did a disservice to the Gabonese
authorities in that it did not reflect the achievements they nust surely have
made in the area of human rights.

77. Since all, or nearly all, his questions had al ready been asked by ot her
menbers, he would sinply revert to certain aspects. In particular, he
wonder ed how the provisions of article 1, paragraph 4, of the Constitution
were to be understood. Did they inply that all laws on pre-trial detention
were by definition constitutional, whatever their contents? On another



CCPR/ ¢/ SR. 1541
page 17

matter, could the Constitutional Court or the Supreme Court exam ne the | aws
enacted by Parliament on pre-trial detention and, if necessary, declare them
i nconpati ble with the Covenant, and were they enpowered to declare the
detention of an individual to be contrary to the Covenant? Did a person held
in pre-trial detention beyond the statutory limt of six months with no
extension being ordered have the right to chall enge the detention?

78. He would like to know to which authority the police reported. Judging
fromthe remarks made by the Gabonese del egation, certain police forces were
attached to the Mnistry of Defence. Was that true? To which body was the
judicial police attached? Ws there a local police, and who supervised it?

79. M. BRUNI CELLI endorsed the remarks of the other nenbers of the
Committee concerning Gabon's initial report (CCPR/ C/31/Add.4) and the
questions they had asked orally. He would like to revert to an aspect
mentioned in the conclusion of the report, in paragraph 70, subparagraph (a).
He had been struck by the tenor of that subparagraph, fromwhich it mght be
inferred that |laws were not of a binding nature in Gabon, but reflected a
sort of intent on the part of the authorities. Gabon had acceded to the
Covenant 13 years before; a Mnistry of Human Ri ghts had been established

in 1987, and, above all, Gabon had been an independent State since 1960. To
be sure, the difficulties inherited fromthe past and the after-effects of
col oni zation could not be ignored, but 36 years of independence was not a
negligible period, and was in any case sufficient to establish institutions
for the protection of human rights, which had in fact been done. Although

i mproving the human rights situation would undoubtedly take tinme and need to
be done in stages, the Gabonese authorities should work harder to that end,
and take rapid steps to resolve the difficulties. Speaking specifically to
the head of the Gabonese del egation, M. Manboundou Mouyama, who was al so the
M ni ster of Communi cation, Culture and Popul ar Educati on, he asked what had
been done and what was being planned to dissem nate human rights standards and
provi de human rights education, especially in the schools, anmong public

opi nion, the police, prisons and the arny. The Gabonese authorities should
step up their efforts to protect human rights and duly fulfil their

obl i gations under the country's Constitution and the Covenant.

80. The CHAI RMAN endorsed the remarks made by the other nmenbers of the
Committee. The report (CCPR/ C/31/Add.4), which was far too brief and nade
difficult by its obscure references to the Constitution, did not nake it
possible to evaluate the human rights situation in Gabon properly and to
di spel the Conmittee's concerns in that connection

81. Regardi ng the i ndependence of the judiciary, the National Human Ri ghts
Commi ssion shortly to be established woul d apparently be exercising contro
over the judicial authorities. Wat kind of control would be involved?
Control over court sentences woul d obviously be unacceptable in the |ight of
the provisions of the Covenant. The powers of the H gh Court of Justice,
described in articles 78-81 of the Constitution, were not clear, and it would
be hel pful if the delegation could explain how the relevant provisions of the
Constitution should be interpreted.



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1541
page 18

82. The Gabonese del egation had stated that the police and army did not
practise torture and that there were no “di sappeared persons” in Gabon, which
was naturally wel cone news. Nevertheless, in view of the different activities
of those two institutions, he would Iike to know whether the authorities

provi ded different human rights training for each. Wat was the relationship
between the two institutions?

83. He invited the nmenbers of the Commttee to continue their consideration
of the initial report of Gabon (CCPR/ C/ 31/ Add.4) at a forthcom ng neeting.

The neeting rose at 1.05 p. m




